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Review of operations  

Highlights: 

 Sundance agreement with AustSino terminated on 12 November 2020 following a number of extensions. 

 Nabeba mining permit expropriated by Congo Government on 30 November 2020. 

 Sundance announced on the 16 December 2020 that it had issued Notices of Dispute and Expropriation against the 

Republic of Congo (“Congo”) and a notice of dispute against the Republic of Cameroon (“Cameroon”). 

 Sundance delisted from the ASX on 21 December 2020. 

 On the 25 March 2021 Sundance referred its dispute with Congo to arbitration in London under the rules of the 

International Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”). 

 A legally binding terms sheet was executed on 12 April 2021 between Sundance and a current stakeholder to provide 

$1 million in short term funding to Sundance.  Funds were received. 

 Sundance announced on the 3 May 2021 that it had signed a binding Capital Provision Agreement with Burford Asia 

Investments Pte Ltd (“Burford”) to provide Sundance with non-recourse funding to cover legal fees and other costs of 

arbitration against the governments of Congo and Cameroon. 

 On 2 June 2021 Sundance referred its dispute with Cameroon to arbitration at the ICC in Paris. 

 On 10 August 2021 Sundance reached an agreement with its noteholders to restructure the Companies existing debt. 

 Sundance commenced pre action discovery on AustSino and Mr Ding on 11 October 2021. 

OVERVIEW 

Sundance commenced the reporting period with an announcement (6 July 2020) confirming an extension to the agreement it 

had with AustSino Resources Group Limited (“AustSino”) and the noteholders of Sundance (“Noteholders”) (“Sundance 

Agreement”).  The Sundance Agreement would have provided a $29M payment to Sundance resulting in a change of control of 

Sundance to AustSino and the Noteholders being paid out their convertible note debt with a mixture of cash ($25M), shares and 

options in Sundance. Full details of the Sundance Agreement can be found in our 2020 Annual Report and other ASX 

announcements.  

 

After a number of extensions and the shareholders of Sundance approving the Sundance Agreement on 29 July 2020 it was 

terminated on 12 November 2020. AustSino had failed to progress the Sundance Agreement after more than 2 years by failing to 

raise the required $29M or provide adequate evidence that it could raise the funds. AustSino could not even get to the point of 

being able to hold its own general meeting of its shareholders to consider and approve the relevant transaction under the 

Sundance Agreement. Sundance was also facing delisting from the ASX on 7 December 2020 after being in suspension for over 

two years. 

 

The alternative development strategy for the Mbalam Nabeba Iron Ore Project (“Project”) was to re-enliven the legally binding 

term sheet Sundance had with its Noteholders in which the Noteholders would cancel their Convertible Notes for a combination 

of equity and a capped production royalty (“Noteholder Agreement”). In the Noteholder Agreement the Noteholders would have 

ended up with approximately 60% of Sundance. 

 

Following the announcement of the cancellation of the Sundance Agreement and the progress to the Noteholder Agreement on 

12 November 2020 the ASX extended Sundance’s delisting date to 8 March 2021. 

 

Unfortunately, before Sundance and its Noteholders could complete the Noteholder Agreement, it was announced by Sundance 

on 16 December 2020 and confirmed by a further announcement on 21 December 2020 that the Government of the Republic of 

Congo (“Congo”) by a Presidential decree on 30 November 2020 had expropriated the Nabeba Mining Permit and had issued it 

to an unknown company - Sangha Mining Development Sasu (“Sangha Mining”). This expropriation is considered illegal and 

against the terms of the legally binding Nabeba mining convention (“Nabeba Convention”) which had been passed into Congolese 

law in 2018.  

 
Sundance issued to Congo a Notice of Dispute and a Notice of Expropriation on 16 December 2020. Sundance is claiming damages 

of $US8.76B. Sundance is being represented by magic circle law firm Clifford Chance. 

 

Due to the expropriation resulting in the loss of a key asset Sundance requested that the delisting be brought forward to 21 

December 2021.  
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Under the terms of the Nabeba Convention Sundance gave Congo 60 days’ notice before commencing arbitration. After some 

initial positive feedback this was extended by a further 30 days. On 13 March 2021 Congo signed an operating Agreement with 

Sangha Mining for the Nabeba deposit and two other nearby deposits (Avima and Badondo) that it had removed from their 

owners and also given to Sangha Mining on the same day – 30 November 2020. 

 

In response to this Sundance announced on 25 March 2021 that it had commenced arbitration against Congo under the rules of 

the International Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”) in London. 

 

In parallel with the Congo activities Sundance also issued a Notice of dispute with the Government of the Republic of Cameroon 

(“Cameroon”) as announced on 16 December 2021 to reinforce its legal rights to have a mining permit via a Presidential 

implementation decree issued to Cam Iron. Negotiations with Cameroon were progressing but following a visit to Cameroon by 

the Minister of Mines, Congo Pierre Oba and reporting on meetings that he had with senior Cameroon officials and the President 

of Cameroon Sundance decided to commence international arbitration via ICC (Paris) against Cameroon. This was announced on 

2 June 2021. 

 

The planned legal activities can take a number of years and be expensive. Sundance was pleased to announce on 3 May 2021 

that it had signed a binding Capital Provision Agreement (“CPA”) with Burford Asia Investments Pte Ltd (“Burford”) to provide 

Sundance non-recourse funding to cover the legal fees and other costs of arbitration against Congo and if needed Cameroon. 

Together with the obligation in the CPA to provide operating funding for Sundance during the proceedings and the $1M funding 

announced on 12 April 2021 Sundance is an excellent position to fight for justice. 

 

On 15 July 2021 Sundance announced that following a review of its leadership and management structure which resulted in Giulio 

Casello leaving his position as CEO and Managing Director of Sundance and returning as a Non-Executive Director of Sundance 

and entered into a consultancy agreement with Sundance. 

 

Sundance announced on 10 August 2021 that it had reached an agreement with Senrigan Master Fund, Noble Resources 

International Pte Ltd, D. E. Shaw Composite Holdings International, Ltd, Wafin Limited and BSOF Master Fund L.P. (together the 

“Noteholders”) to restructure the company's existing debt (Convertible Notes to a redemption value of $132.6M) (“Noteholder 

Waterfall Deed”) and security arrangements. 

 
Under the new arrangements, the Noteholders have agreed to indefinitely forbear on their Convertible Notes for the duration of 
the proceedings which are currently underway against the Governments of the Republic of the Congo and the Republic of 
Cameroon.  If Sundance is successful in any of these proceedings and receives an award of damages, the Noteholders will be 
entitled to receive an agreed portion of any damages recovered as compensation for agreeing to the forbearance of their 
Convertible Notes. Any amounts due to the Noteholders under the new arrangements will be paid after Burford has recovered 
its entitlements as the litigation funder under the Capital Provision Agreement (as announced by the Company on 3 May 2021). 

 

After these payments are made to the litigation funder and the Noteholders, Sundance will be able to use the net proceeds of 

any damages awarded in the arbitration proceedings in its absolute discretion.  

 

Sundance announced on 11 October 2021 that following a period of investigation, it had applied for Pre Action Discovery against 

AustSino and its Executive Chairman Mr Ding in the Supreme Court of Western Australia. 

 

Sundance Company Secretary, Carol Marinkovich resigned from that position and was replaced by Sundance Non-Executive 

Director, Brett Fraser on 15 October 2021. 

 
Summaries of the Mbalam Nabeba Iron Ore Project and the terminated Sundance Agreement are covered in the Background 

section below. 
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Background: 

Prior to the expropriation of the Nabeba mining permit the assets of Sundance was defined as: 

The Project 

Sundance holds a majority interest in subsidiaries Cam Iron SA (‘Cam Iron’) and Congo Iron SA (‘Congo Iron’) whose principal 

asset is the mining permit application in the Republic of Cameroon and the mining permit in the Republic of Congo which rights 

comprise the Mbalam-Nabeba Iron Ore Project (‘Project’). The Project straddles the border of Cameroon and Congo in Central 

Africa.   

 

 The Project is expected to comprise: 

o The iron ore mine, processing plant and associated infrastructure to be developed on the area covered by the previous 

Exploration Permit 92 (‘EP92’) which had been held by Cam Iron located in the East Province of Cameroon (‘Mbarga’); 

and  

o The iron ore mine, processing plant and associated infrastructure to be developed on Mining Permit Nabeba-Bamegod 

held by Congo Iron in the Sangha Province of the Congo (‘Nabeba’).   

o A new railway (to be constructed) from Congo, through Cameroon, to the coast with: 
o 540km in Cameroon; 

o 40km spur line in Congo; and 

o A dedicated deep-water iron ore mineral terminal (to be constructed) in Cameroon 

 The Project plans to produce at least 40Mtpa from the two mines at Mbarga and Nabeba for 30+ years in two stages: 

o Stage 1: high-grade hematite direct shipping ore for at least 13 years; and 

o Stage 2: 66% - 68% concentrate product from itabirite for further 20+ years. 
 

Sundance believes that the only viable method of exploiting the iron ore in the Sangha region in Congo and in the Mbarga region 

in Cameroon is through our well defined, costed and feasible Project. 
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Sundance Agreement 

On 25 September 2018, Sundance announced that it had signed an agreement (“Agreement”) with AustSino and all Noteholders 

of the Company (other than Wafin Limited (Wafin)) being Senrigan Master Fund, Noble Resources International Pte Ltd, D. E. 

Shaw Composite Holdings International, Ltd, Wafin Limited, BSOF Master Fund L.P. and David Porter (together the 

“Noteholders”), which will fund Sundance, bring in partners who have the capability and capacity to fund and bring the Mbalam 

Nabeba Iron Ore Project  (“Project”) into production and leave Sundance debt free. On 1 October 2018 Wafin also agreed to be 

bound by the terms of the Agreement.  

 

This Agreement had an end date of 30 June 2019. 

 

On 5 July 2019 Sundance entered into a new agreement with AustSino and the Noteholders of the Company (“New Agreement”). 

Some of the key differences between the Previous Agreement and the New Agreement are as follows: 

 The reinstatement of the Mbalam Convention was not a condition to the completion of the New Agreement. 

 The cash payable by AustSino on completion of the New Agreement will reduce from $58M (payable on completion of 

the Previous Agreement) to $29M.  Of this, $25M (previously $50M) will be paid to Noteholders and $4M (previously 

$8M) will be retained by Sundance. 

 AustSino will own approximately 50.2% of Sundance following the completion of the New Agreement under which 

AustSino will receive approximately 11,153,846,154 shares issued at a price of $0.0026 per share (resulting in a change 

of control of Sundance). 

 The number of options to be granted to the Noteholders is to be halved from 10 billion to 5 billion. The terms of those 

options (having an exercise price of $0.02 and expiry date of five years from the date of issue) are otherwise unchanged. 

 AustSino will provide certain financial support to Sundance to part support its working capital requirements until 

completion of the New Agreement. Sundance may seek support from other parties. The support of AustSino was an 

initial $200,000 placement of ordinary shares to AustSino at an issue price of $0.00375 per share, resulting in the issue 

of 53,333,333 shares to AustSino (“Initial Placement”).  The funds were received by Sundance on 8 July 2019. After the 

Initial Placement and within 5 business days following a request by Sundance, AustSino is required to pay $100,000 per 

month to Sundance in return for the issue of ordinary shares in Sundance at an issue price of $0.00375 up to an 

aggregate of $600,000 (including the initial $200,000) (Financial Support Arrangement).  The total number of ordinary 

shares potentially to be issued by Sundance to AustSino under the Financial Support Arrangement is 160,000,000 

ordinary shares.  In lieu of subscribing for additional Sundance shares, AustSino may instead require that amounts paid 

under the Financial Support Arrangement be deducted from the $29 Million purchase price payable by AustSino on 

Placement Completion.  Neither the Initial Placement nor any subsequent placement of shares under the Financial 

Support Arrangement will require Sundance shareholder approval. 

Although the reinstatement of the Mbalam Convention is not a condition precedent for the completion of the New 

Agreement, Sundance and AustSino agreed to continue to explore the reinstatement of the Mbalam Convention.  

The End Date for the Sundance Agreement was 31 December 2019, AustSino and Sundance agreed by a letter 

agreement signed on 22 October 2019 (“Letter Agreement”) that the end date for the completion of the Sundance 

Agreement be extended to 30 June 2020. 

In addition to the extension it was agreed: 

 The existing financial support arrangement in the Sundance Agreement will continue until completion. AustSino will 

continue to pay $100,000 per month to Sundance in return for the issue of ordinary shares in Sundance at an issue 

price of $0.0045 per share (which would comprise total payments of $1.3 million, $600K at $0.00375 per share and 

$700K at $0.0045 per share, if completion does not occur until 30 June 2020). 

 AustSino will now pay an additional $200,000 per month to Sundance starting on 1 December 2019 in return for the 

issue of ordinary shares in Sundance at an issue price of $0.0045 per share.  However, the shares will not be issued to 

AustSino unless and until completion occurs (which would comprise total additional payments of $1.4 million to 

Sundance if completion does not occur until 30 June 2020). 

 Sundance and AustSino have agreed to release each other (and their relevant personnel) from any claims or liabilities 

arising under or in connection with the Second Placement Agreement or the Mbalam-Nabeba Project prior to 22 

October 2019 (the date of the SDL Letter Agreement). 
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These changes were conditional on: 

 Written agreement of Sundance’s Noteholders to the SDL Letter Agreement by 31 December 2019 (but which Sundance 

and AustSino expect to receive by late November 2019); and  

 AustSino and Western Australian Port Rail Construction (Shanghai) Ltd (WAPRC), being parties to an agreement dated 

on or about 24 September 2018 pursuant to which WAPRC will subscribe for shares in the Investor for $100 million 

(WAPRC Agreement), agreeing to extend the deadline for completing all conditions precedent under the WAPRC 

Agreement from 31 December 2019 to 30 June 2020, by 1 December 2019 (which Sundance and AustSino expect to 

receive by mid November 2019). 

Separately, as consideration for Sundance agreeing to extend the end date to completion of the New Agreement, AustSino has 

agreed to issue 107,692,308 fully paid ordinary AustSino shares to Sundance at a deemed issue price of $0.013 per share but at 

no cost to Sundance, after receipt of written agreement from all Noteholders of Sundance to the Letter Agreement. These shares 

were issued on 24 December 2019. 

On 2 December 2019 written agreement was received by Sundance from the Noteholders to extend the end date of the New 

Agreement to 30 June 2020. AustSino has also informed Sundance that WAPRC has also extended the WAPRC Agreement to 30 

June 2020. The Letter Agreement is now unconditional. 

On 3 June 2020, AustSino announced to the market that it would not be able to satisfy the conditions precedent required under 

the Sundance Agreement by 30 June 2020. AustSino stated that it was unable to complete the placement agreement with WAPRC 

because WAPRC was unable to make a proposed $100 million cash injection available as required by 30 June 2020. 

As announced on 25 June 2020, Sundance was advised by AustSino that a new investor to replace WAPRC had been identified 

and a new agreement with them was being finalised. This resulted in Sundance adjourning its Extraordinary General Meeting, 

which was scheduled for 29 June 2020, until the new investor became certain. 

On 2 July 2020 Sundance announced it was in negotiations with AustSino with a view to agreeing a further extension to the New 

Agreement.  

On 7 July 2020, Sundance announced its negotiations with AustSino had progressed to the signing of a new extension letter 

agreement between AustSino and Sundance to extend the New Agreement to 30 September 2020 (“Further Extension Letter”). 

This Further Extension Letter required approval from the Sundance Noteholders by 17 July 2020 in order for the further extension 

to be effective. 

The Further Extension Letter had a number of conditions: 

1. The Agreement was extended to 30 September 2020 subject to: 

(a) by 10 July 2020 AustSino must lodge a draft Notice of Meeting to the Australian Securities Exchange for review; 

and 

(b) by 17 July 2020 AustSino must demonstrate to the reasonable satisfaction of Sundance that it had progressed the 

funding (e.g. $29M) for completion of the Sundance Agreement. 

2.  AustSino will provide a further $450,000 in funding to Sundance (this will be repayable in cash or equity only if the 

Sundance Agreement completes; otherwise it will be revenue to Sundance). The first payment of $50,000 was payable 

on 17 July 2020 should all Noteholders have consented to the further extension and AustSino have satisfied or Sundance 

waived the conditions in (a) and (b) above. 

On 9 July 2020, AustSino announced that it had entered into a binding placement agreement with Midwest Resource Finance 

Group Pty Ltd (“Midwest”) pursuant to which Midwest had agreed to subscribe to 7,692,307,693 AustSino shares at an issue price 

of $0.013 per share to raise $100 million. 

On 21 July 2020, Sundance announced that AustSino had submitted its draft Notice of Meeting to the ASX and ASIC on 10 July 

2020 to satisfy the first condition. Sundance also announced that it had received consent from the Noteholders as required by 

17 July 2020. 
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Sundance met with AustSino on 17 July 2020 and was presented with a number of documents to support that progress was being 

made in funding the New Agreement. The Board of Sundance was pleased to view the documents but did not believe there was 

sufficient progress to enable it to say that the condition precedent of the Further Extension Letter had been satisfied.  

Nevertheless, Sundance agreed to waive this condition but has not otherwise release AustSino from further claims and liabilities.  

On 27 July 2020, Sundance announced that the required bank processes had commenced but Sundance will continue to monitor 

the progress before releasing AustSino. 

The Sundance Extraordinary General Meeting was reconvened on 29 July 2020 and all resolutions put to the meeting were passed 

via poll. 

Progress by AustSino and Midwest continued to secure funding for the New Agreement but, as of 30 September 2020, the funds 

had yet to be secured. It became evident that further time was required to complete the New Agreement. 

Sundance and AustSino signed a conditional extension of the end date of the New Agreement from 30 September to 30 November 

2020 (“Final Extension Letter”). 

The Final Extension Letter is conditional on approval being received for the extension from the Noteholders. Once Noteholder 

approval has been received, AustSino will provide a further $300K in funding to Sundance (this will be repayable in cash or equity 

only if the New Agreement completes). 

The Final Extension Letter also allows Sundance to cancel the Sundance Agreement with five business days’ notice from 2 

November 2020 if AustSino, by that date, has not convened a shareholders meeting to approve the transactions contemplated 

under the Sundance Agreement. 

The Sundance Agreement was terminated on 12 November 2020 after AustSino was unable to convene the required general 

meeting. 

Media Allegations 

Allegations relating to events that occurred between 2006 and 2008 in the Republic of Congo appeared in articles published by 

Fairfax Media in August and September 2016.  

These allegations arose in evidence given during the Porter case heard in the Supreme Court of Western Australia in September 

2015 but were not tested by the court and should not necessarily be considered an independent and accurate portrayal of events. 

Investigations into these events by the Australian Federal Police are ongoing and expected to take some time to conclude. 

Sundance is co-operating fully with the Australian Federal Police. 

Cameroon Customs Dispute 

Sundance, through its subsidiary Cam Iron SA (“Cam Iron”), became aware in 2017 that customs officials in Cameroon conducted 

an audit that found discrepancies in the paper work provided by third parties to Cam Iron on the sale of Cam Iron vehicles and 

the customs records of those transactions.  There is no indication that Cam Iron should have been aware of the discrepancies.  

The impact of these discrepancies on Cam Iron is uncertain and the company has had no further contact from customs officials. 
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Directors’ report 

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity, consisting of Sundance Resources Limited (Sundance or the 
Company) and its controlled entities (collectively the Group), for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

1. Directors 

The names of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 

 Mr David Porter Non-executive Director & Chairman 

 Mr Brett Fraser Non-executive Director  

 Mr Giulio Casello Non-executive Director (Appointed 15 July, 2021) 

(the Board) 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. For additional 
information of Directors, including details of the qualifications of Directors, please refer to paragraph 5 “Information relating to 
the directors” of this Directors’ Report. 

2. Company secretary 

The following person held the position of Company Secretary at the end of the financial year: 

 Ms Carol Marinkovich   Ms Marinkovich has over 25 years’ experience in the mining industry.  She has extensive 
experience in Company Secretary and Corporate Governance Practices both within 
Australia and Internationally working with companies in the ASX200, ASX300 and for other 
listed junior explorers.   

Ms Marinkovich is a Member of the Governance Institute of Australia and the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in London. 

3. Dividends paid or recommended 

There were no dividends paid or recommended during the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

4. Operating and financial review 

4.1. Nature of operations principal activities 

The principal activity of the Group during the course of the financial year has been advancing legal proceedings in the 
International Chamber of Commerce in London and Paris.  This is a result of the illegal expropriation of the Group’s Nabeba 
iron ore permit in the Republic of the Congo and the litigation that is now ongoing against the Governments of both Congo 
and Cameroon. 

4.2. Operations review 

Refer to the Review of operations on page 1. 

4.3. Financial review 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The Group 
incurred a loss for the year of $1,607,868 (2020: $6,616,407 loss). 

The net asset deficiency of the Group have increased by $3,016,623 from 30 June 2020 to $134,387,401 at 30 June 2021. 

As at 30 June 2021, the Group's cash and cash equivalents increased from 30 June 2020 by $19,548 to $772,933 at 30 June 
2021 and had a working capital deficit of $133,766,290 (2020: $132,703,984 working capital deficit), as disclosed in Note 7 
of the Capital management note. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. Details of 
the Company's assessment in this regard can be found in note 19 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies: Going 
Concern on page 49. 



ANNUAL REPORT   SUNDANCE RESOURCES LIMITED 

30 June 2021  AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
  ABN 19 055 719 394 
  

   
 

 P a g e  | 8 

Directors’ report 

4.4. Significant changes in the state of affairs 

Sundance Agreement with AustSino was terminated on 12 November 2020. 

Sundance was delisted on 21 December 2020 following the illegal expropriation of one of its key assets - the Nabeba mining 
permit on 30 November 2020 

On 12 April 2021 Sundance received $1 million in funding from a current stakeholder. The terms remain commercial in 
confidence.  

On 3 May 2021 Sundance announced that it had signed a binding Capital Provision Agreement (“CPA”) with Burford Asia 
Investments Pte. Ltd. (“Burford”), an affiliate of Burford Capital Limited, the world's leading global finance and asset 
management business focused on law.  

Under the CPA, Burford will provide Sundance with non-recourse funding to cover legal fees and other costs of arbitration 
against the Government of the Republic of Congo and, if required, the Government of Cameroon. The terms of the CPA 
remain commercial in confidence. 

Sundance referred its dispute with the Republic of Congo to arbitration at the International Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”) 
in London in March 2021. 

Sundance referred its dispute with the Republic of Cameroon to arbitration at the International Chamber of Commerce 
(“ICC”) in Paris in June 2021. 

There were no other significant changes to the state of affairs of the Group.  

4.5. Events subsequent to reporting date 

There are no significant after balance date events that are not covered in this Directors' Report section 4.2 Operations 
review above or within the financial statements at Note 11 Events Subsequent To Reporting Date on page 40. 

4.6. Future developments, prospects and business strategies 

Likely developments, future prospects and business strategies of the operations of the Group and the expected results of 
those operations have not been included in this report as the Directors believe that the inclusion of such information would 
be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

4.7. Environmental regulations 

The Group’s operations are subject to environmental regulations under Cameroon and Congo legislation.  

Cam Iron received environmental approval to progress the Project on 25 June 2010 with the receipt of a Certificate of 
Conformity from the Ministry of Environment and Nature Protection (‘MINEP’).  This approval was unconditional but 
upgrades to the Environmental and Social Assessment (‘ESA’) documentation were required to be completed prior to the 
commencement of operations.  The ESA has been assessed by the Government of Cameroon and Certificate of 
Environmental Conformity has been re-issued to Cam Iron on 5 August 2014. 

The baseline study programme for Congo Iron’s Nabeba Permit ESA was conducted in early 2011.  The ESA documentation 
was first submitted on 24 January 2012 to the Ministry for Sustainable Development, Forest Economy and the Environment 
(‘MDDEFE’) and presented to the public.  The ESA was reviewed by the MDDEFE and additional amendments to the ESA 
were requested.  The revised ESA was re-submitted on 15 May 2012 and was then followed up with a project site visit from 
members of the MDDEFE on 10 June 2012.  On 13 August 2012 a letter from the Chairman of the Inter-Ministerial 
Commission was received stating that the working group is satisfied with the amended terms of reference and the ESA has 
been accepted in its final form.  The Certificate of Environmental Conformity was received from the Minister of the 
Environment in September 2012 and reissued in June 2013.  

The Group is committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance. The Board is responsible for the 
regular monitoring of environmental exposures and compliance with environmental regulations. 

The Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements 
and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the Group. 
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Directors’ report 

5. Information relating to the directors 

 Mr David Porter   Chairman (Non-Executive) 

Independent 

Qualifications   MSc(Geo), BSc (Hon) 

Experience   Mr Porter is a professional geologist and Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy with over 40 years’ experience in the mining industry, including most facets of 
exploration and mining. For the past 17 years he has focused his activities in Africa and was 
the founding Chairman of Cam Iron SA and Congo Iron SA.  Mr Porter was also instrumental 
in the development of two coal projects in the Waterberg region of South Africa which are 
at development stage.  Prior to Mr Porter’s project activities in Africa, he was Managing 
Director of three ASX listed exploration companies, all of which developed gold and base 
metal projects.  Mr Porter worked for many international mining companies, with small ASX 
listed companies and as an independent consultant on gold, base metal, iron ore and coal 
projects.   

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

 1,735,542,986 ordinary Shares in Sundance Resources Limited. 

No Options held in Sundance Resources Limited. 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Mr Porter does not currently hold directorships in any other listed entities. 

   

 Mr Brett Fraser   Director (Non-Executive) 

Independent 

Qualifications   FFIN, FCPA, BBus, FGIA 

Experience   Mr Fraser is an experienced ASX company director; has worked in the finance and securities 
industry for over 30 years’ and has started, owned and operated businesses across wine, 
health, finance, media and mining.  Mr Fraser provides consultancy across sell side 
transactions, business acquisitions, business strategy and restructuring, initial public offers, 
capital raisings and corporate governance.  In addition, Mr Fraser is a Fellow of Certified 
Practicing Accountants; Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia; Grad Dip 
Finance, Securities Institute of Australia; Bachelor of Business (Accounting); International 
Marketing Institute – AGSM Sydney and Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia. Mr 
Fraser is also a former director of Drake Resources Limited, Doray Minerals Limited and Gage 
Roads Limited.  

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  No ordinary Shares held in Sundance Resources Limited. 

No Options held in Sundance Resources Limited. 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Mr Fraser is a Non-Executive Director of Firefinch Ltd (ASX:FFX) 

   

 Mr Giulio Casello   Director (Non-Executive) 

Qualifications   B.Eng, ME Mgt, MAICD 

Experience   Mr Casello is a highly experienced executive with national and global exposure in 
manufacturing environments for blue chip organisations.  Backed by 40 years of experience, 
he has a track record of success with operations, business development and corporate 
strategy.  He has previously worked at Sinosteel Midwest as Chief Operating Officer, Century 
Aluminium Company in the United States of America where as Senior Vice President Business 
Development he was responsible for developing and implementing a growth plan in 
aluminium, alumina and critical raw material and managing new projects across the globe.  
He has also held a number of significant positions in Alcoa including Director of WA 
Operations, General Manager of Alcoa’s World Chemicals and Location Manager of the 
Kwinana Alumina Refinery. 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

  14,950,000 ordinary Shares in Sundance Resources Limited. 

200,000,000 Options in Sundance Resources Limited. 

200,000,000 Performance rights in Sundance Resources Limited. 
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Directors’ report 

Directorships held in 
other listed entities 

  Mr Casello does not currently hold directorships in any other listed entities. 

   

6. Meetings of directors and committees  

During the financial year eight meeting of Directors (including committees of Directors) were held. Attendances by each Director 
during the year are stated in the following table. 
 

 DIRECTORS’ 

MEETINGS 

AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 

NOMINATION  & 

REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE 

FINANCE & OPERATIONS 

COMMITTEE 

 Number 
Eligible to 

Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
Eligible to 

Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
Eligible to  

Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
Eligible to  

Attend 

Number 
Attended 

David Porter 10 10 At the date of this report, the full Board of Directors consider all mattes of nomination and 

remuneration, audit, and finance and operations. The Directors believe the Company is not 

currently of a size nor are its affairs of such complexity as to warrant the establishment of 

separate committees.  

Brett Fraser 10 10 

Giulio Casello 10 10 

   

7. Indemnifying officers or auditor 

7.1. Indemnification 

The Company indemnifies each of its Directors, officers and company secretary to the maximum extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001 from liability to third parties, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving lack of good 
faith, and in defending legal and administrative proceedings and applications for such proceedings. 

The Company must use its best endeavours to insure a director or officer against any liability, which does not arise out of 
conduct constituting a wilful breach of duty or a contravention of the Corporations Act 2001. The Company must also use 
its best endeavours to insure a Director or officer against liability for costs and expenses incurred in defending proceedings 
whether civil or criminal. 

The Company has not entered into any agreement with its current auditors indemnifying them against any claims by third 
parties arising from their report on the financial report. 

7.2. Insurance premiums 

During the year the Company paid insurance premiums to insure directors and officers against certain liabilities arising out 
of their conduct while acting as an officer of the Group. Under the terms and conditions of the insurance contract, the 
nature of the liabilities insured against and the premium paid cannot be disclosed. 

8. Options 

8.1. Unissued shares under option 

At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Sundance Resources Limited under option (listed and unlisted) 
are as follows: 

 Date of Vesting Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under 
Option 

 

 1 December 2017 1 December 2022 $0.003 100,000,000  

 1 December 2018 1 December 2023 $0.006 100,000,000  

 8 January 2019 8 January 2024 $0.006                   110,000,000  

 14 February 2019 13 February 2024 $0.006                   400,000,000  

 25 February 2019 21 February 2024 $0.006                   30,000,000  

 16 December 2019 28 August 2024 $0.006                   26,666,667  

 16 December 2019 29 August 2024 $0.006                   26,666,667  

    793,333,334  
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There are no participation rights or entitlements inherent in the Options and holders will not be entitled to participate in 
new issues of capital offered to Shareholders during the currency of the Options without exercising the Options. 

8.2. Shares issued on exercise of options 

No ordinary shares were issued by the Company as a result of the exercise of options during or since the end of the financial 
year. 

9. Non-audit services 

During the year, Hall Chadwick WA Audit Pty Ltd (Hall Chadwick), the Company’s auditor, did not perform any services other than 
their statutory audits. Details of remuneration paid to the auditor can be found within the financial statements at Note 14 
Auditors' Remuneration on page 42. 

In the event that non-audit services are provided by Hall Chadwick , the Board has established certain procedures to ensure that 
the provision of non-audit services are compatible with, and do not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. These procedures include: 

 non-audit services will be subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and will be 
reviewed  by the Board to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 ensuring non-audit services do not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and 
rewards. 

10. Proceedings on behalf of company 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which 
the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings.  

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

11. Auditor’s independence declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the year ended  
30 June 2021 has been received and can be found on page 13 of the annual report. 
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Directors’ report 

 

This Report of the Directors is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations 
Act 2001 (Cth). 

 

 

 

 

DAVID PORTER 

Chairman 

Dated this Wednesday, 22 December 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

To the Board of Directors 

 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

 

As lead audit Partner for the audit of the financial statements of Sundance Resources Limited for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2021, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours faithfully,  

 

 

 

HALL CHADWICK MARK DELAURENTIS CA 

Chartered Accountants Partner 

 

 

 

Dated at Perth this 22nd day of December 2021 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
for the year ended 30 June 2021 
   

 Note  2021 

$ 

 2020 

$ 

Continuing operations    

Other income 1.1 2,589,133 1,806,383 

Administration expense 1.2 (180,509) (343,357) 

Consultants fees expensed  (341,779) (252,540) 

Employee and director benefits expense 1.3 (1,274,444) (1,119,209) 

Exchange rate profit (loss)  - (1,262) 

Legal fees  (592,024) (337,939) 

Listing and registry fees  (62,498) (82,844) 

Occupancy costs  (85,616) (99,907) 

Professional fees 1.4 (70,720) (190,661) 

Travel expenses  (12,551) (45,629) 

Finance charges on Convertible Notes 1.5 - (5,729,880) 

Impairment of investment in other entity 4.6 (1,400,000) - 

Other expenses 1.6 (176,860) (219,562) 

Loss from continuing operations before tax  (1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

Income tax  2 - - 

Loss from continuing operations net of tax  (1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

Loss for the period attributable to:    

Non-controlling interest  (2,177,170) (2,498,797) 

Owners of the parent  569,302 (4,117,610) 

Net loss attributed to members  (1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

Other comprehensive expense, net of income tax    

 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations   (103,265) (39,139) 

Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax  (103,265)   (39,139) 

Total comprehensive expense for the year  (1,711,133) (6,655,546) 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

 Non-controlling interest  (1,252,241) (2,700,850) 

 Owners of the parent  (458,892) (3,954,696) 

Total comprehensive expense attributed to members  (1,711,133) (6,655,546) 

Earnings per share:  ₵ ₵ 

Basic and diluted (cents per share) 15 0.006 (0.045) 

 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive expense is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2021  
 

 Note 2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 3.1 772,933 753,385 

Trade and other receivables 3.2 211,149 39,572 

Inventory 4.3 746 1,056 

Other assets 4.2 125,656 131,857 

Total current assets  1,110,484 925,870 

Non-current assets    

Investments in other entity 4.6 - 1,400,000 

Total non-current assets  - 1,400,000 

Total assets  1,110,484 2,325,870 

Current liabilities    

Borrowings 3.4 133,556,200 132,556,200 

Trade and other payables 3.5 1,125,826 934,121 

Provisions 4.5 194,748 139,533 

Total current liabilities  134,876,774 133,629,854 

Non-current liabilities    

Advance from Litigation Funder 3.6 250,000 - 

Provisions 4.5 371,111 66,794 

Total non-current liabilities  621,111 66,794 

Total liabilities  135,497,885 133,696,648 

Net assets  (134,387,401) (131,370,778) 

Equity    

Issued capital 5.1 432,049,810 432,049,810 

Reserves  77,887,828 80,221,512 

Accumulated losses  (582,099,957) (582,669,259) 

Non-controlling interest  (62,225,082) (60,972,841) 

Total equity  (134,387,401) (131,370,778) 
 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

 Note 

Issued Capital Other Equity 

Share 
Transactions 

With Non-
Controlling 

Interests 

Foreign Exchange 
Translation 

Reserve 

Issue of 
Convertible 

Notes 

 
Options Premium 

Reserve 

Share Based 
Payments 

Reserve 

Accumulated 
Profit/(Losses) 

Non- 
Controlling 

Interest 

 
Total Equity 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2019  429,979,810 - (11,160,000) 35,624,262 24,672,500 4,518,800 25,003,036 (578,551,649) (58,271,991) (128,185,232) 

Loss for the year   - - - - - - - (4,117,610) (2,498,797) (6,616,407) 

Foreign currency translation  - - - 162,914 - - - - (202,053) (39,139) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   - - - 162,914 - - - (4,117,610) (2,700,850) (6,655,546) 

Transaction with owners, directly in equity             

Shares issued during the year  5.1.1 1,745,000 - - - - - - - - 1,745,000 

Shares pending issue 5.1.1 - 1,400,000 - - - - - - - 1,400,000 

Shares issued to employees 5.1.1 325,000 - - - - - - - - 325,000 

Balance at 30 June 2020  432,049,810 1,400,000 (11,160,000) 35,787,176 24,672,500 4,518,800 25,003,036 (582,669,259) (60,972,841) (131,370,778) 

            

Balance at 1 July 2020  432,049,810 1,400,000 (11,160,000) 35,787,176 24,672,500 4,518,800 25,003,036 (582,669,259) (60,972,841) (131,370,778) 

Loss for the year   - - - - - - - 569,302 (2,177,170) (1,607,868) 

Foreign currency loss  - - - (1,028,194) - - - - 924,929 (103,265) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   - - - (1,028,194) - - - 569,302 (1,252,241) (1,711,133) 

Transaction with owners, directly in equity   - - - - - - - - - - 

Impairment of investment in other entity  - (1,400,000) - - - - - - - (1,400,000) 

Share based payments  - - - - - - 94,510 - - 94,510 

Balance at 30 June 2021  432,049,810 - (11,160,000) 34,758,982 24,672,500 4,518,800 25,097,546 (582,099,957) (62,225,082) (134,387,401) 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

 
Note 2021 

 $ 

2020 
 $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees  (2,418,034) (2,367,346) 

Receipts from others  1,097,104 100,759 

Interest received  474 740 

Interest and borrowing costs  (2) (5,097) 

Net cash used in operating activities 3.1.2 (1,320,458) (2,270,944) 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Proceed from disposal of property, plant & equipment  91,555 - 

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities  91,555 - 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Loan proceeds from investor  1,000,000 - 

Advance from litigation funder  250,000 - 

Proceeds from issue of shares   - 1,485,000 

Proceeds from shares pending issue  - 1,400,000 

Net cash provided by financing activities  1,250,000 2,885,000 

 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
 

21,097 614,056 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  753,385 139,095 

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  (1,549) 234 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  3.1 772,933 753,385 
 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

In preparing the 2021 financial statements, Sundance Resources Limited has grouped notes into sections under five key 
categories: 

 Section A: How the numbers are calculated ................................................................................................................ 19 

 Section B: Risk .............................................................................................................................................................. 35 

 Section C: Group structure ........................................................................................................................................... 39 

 Section D: Unrecognised items .................................................................................................................................... 40 

Significant accounting policies specific to each note are included within that note. Accounting policies that are determined to be 
non-significant are not included in the financial statements.  

The presentation of the notes to the financial statements has changed from the prior year and is supported by the IASB’s 
Disclosure Initiative. As part of this project, the AASB made amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements which 
have provided preparers with more flexibility in presenting the information in their financial reports. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, except where otherwise stated. 

The registered office and principal place of business of the 
Company is: 

Address: 

Street: 45 Ventnor Avenue 

 WEST PERTH WA 6005 

Telephone: +61 (0)8 9220 2300 

Email:   info@sundanceresources.com.au 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

SECTION  A. HOW THE NUMBERS ARE CALCULATED 
This section provides additional information about those individual line items in the financial statements that the directors 
consider most relevant in the context of the operations of the entity, including: 

(a) accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. These cover 
situations where the accounting standards either allow a choice or do not deal with a particular type of transaction 

(b) analysis and sub-totals, including segment information 

(c) information about estimates and judgements made in relation to particular items. 

 

Note  1 Loss before income tax  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

The following significant revenue and expense items are relevant in explaining 
the financial performance: 

   

1.1 Other income from continuing operations    

 Net fair value movement of embedded derivative in convertible 
notes 

      

- 386,136 

 Shares acquired at nil consideration  - 1,400,000 

 Shares and cash forfeited  2,150,000 - 

 Government assistance COVID 19  100,000 - 

 Insurance premium refund  243,496 - 

 Sale of fixed assets  91,555 - 

 Interest revenue  474 740 

 Other income  3,608 37,507 

  2,589,133 1,806,383 

1.1.1 Covid 19 government assistance 

The Group benefited from the government’s temporary Cash Flow Boost support package designed to assist businesses 
manage cashflow challenges and help retain employees during the economic downturn associated with COVID-19. Eligible 
businesses who employed staff received cash flow boosts delivered as credits via the activity statement system (not as 
direct payments to the business). The cash flow boost payments were made in two stages. The initial cash flow boost was 
based on the amount of the Company’s PAYG withholding for the period April to June 2020. Eligible businesses that 
withheld tax on their employees’ salary and wages received a credit equal to 100% of the amount withheld to a maximum 
payment of $50,000. The second payments were made for the July to September 2020 quarter. Eligible businesses 
received an additional payment equal to the total that they had been paid in the first round of payments to a maximum 
of $50,000, regardless of the amount of PAYG tax actually paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).  

1.1.2 AustSino shares forfeited 

AustSino provided $2.15m in funding to Sundance which was repayment in cash or equity on the condition that the 
Sundance Agreement completed by 30 November 2020.  The issue price of the shares was $0.0045 per share and was 
held pending in an equity reserve.  Since the agreement did not complete this funding has now been recognised as 
revenue for Sundance.               

1.1.3 Accounting Policy – Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer 
and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a 
product or service to a customer. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  1 Loss before income tax (continued)  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

1.2 Administration expenses:    

 Corporate costs  56,240 105,028 

 General administration costs  107,362 219,827 

 IT and communications  16,907 18,502 

  180,509 343,357 

1.3 Employee and director benefits:    

 Share based payment  94,510 325,000 

 Salaries and wages  581,778 584,326 

 Non-executive Directors’ fees  190,000 150,425 

 Redundancy  350,000 - 

 Superannuation  58,156 59,458 

  1,274,444 1,119,209 

1.3.1 Accounting Policy – Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up 
to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

    
1.4 Professional fees:    

 Audit, accounting and tax  45,163 178,527 

 Public relations  25,557 12,134 

  70,720 190,661 

1.5 Convertible Note finance:  
  

 Convertible note effective interest charge  - 4,561,557 

 Convertible note fair value movement  - 1,156,200 

 Convertible note capitalised borrowing cost amortisation charge  - 12,123 

  - 5,729,880 

1.6 Other expenses:    

 Consumables  14,411 6,305 

 Insurance  152,550 194,366 

 Motor vehicles  9,897 10,155 

 Interest paid  2 5,097 

 Other  - 3,639 

  176,860 219,562 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  2 Income tax  Note 2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

2.1 Components of tax expense comprise:    

Current income tax    

 Current income charge (benefit)  (591,284) (324,101) 

    
Deferred income tax    

 Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (279,231) 605,513 

 Tax losses not brought to account  591,284 324,101 

 Timing differences not brought to account  279,231 (605,513) 

Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income  - - 

    
2.2 Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable    

The prima facie tax payable/(benefit) on loss from ordinary activities 
before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:  

   

Loss before income tax  (1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

Prima facie tax payable on loss from ordinary activities before income tax 
at 30% (2020: 30%) 

 (482,360) (1,984,922) 

Add / (Less) Tax effect of:    

 Impairment of project & utility expense  - 195,566 

 Share based payment expense  28,353 97,500 

 Other non-allowable items  225 1,368,467 

 Losses not brought to account  591,284 324,101 

 Timing differences not brought to account  413,106 (712) 

 Non-assessable income  (550,608)  

Income tax attributed to entity  - - 

    
2.3 Unrecognised deferred tax balances     

 Unrecognised deferred tax asset – losses  47,688,158 47,134,690 

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets – other  1,878,549 2,711,249 

Deferred tax asset not brought to account  49,566,707 49,845,939 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  2 Income tax (continued)  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

2.4 Key estimates – Taxation 

Net deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as it is not probable within the immediate future that tax profits 
will be available against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.  

The Group’s tax losses have the ability to be carried forward indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of the Group. 
The recoupment of available tax losses as at 30 June 2021 are contingent upon the Group satisfying the following conditions:  

 deriving future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the losses to be 
realised;  

 the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continuing to be complied with and the company meeting 
either its continuity of ownership test or in the absence of satisfying that test the company can satisfy the same business 
test; and 

 there being no changes in tax legislation which would adversely affect the Group from realising the benefits from the 
losses.  

In the event that the Group fails to satisfy these conditions above or the Commissioner of Taxation challenges the Group’s 
ability to utilise its losses, the Group may be liable for future income tax on assessable income derived by the company. 

Balances disclosed in the financial statements and the notes thereto, related to taxation, are based on the best estimates of 
directors. These estimates consider both the financial performance and position of the company as they pertain to current 
income taxation legislation, and the directors understanding thereof. No adjustment has been made for pending or future 
taxation legislation. The current income tax position represents that directors' best estimate, pending an assessment by tax 
authorities in relevant jurisdictions. 

2.5 Accounting Policy 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements, and to unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for 
each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary 
differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising 
from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these 
temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction 
did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in 
equity. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  3 Financial assets and financial liabilities  

 

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

Cash at bank and on hand  772,933 753,385 

  772,933 753,385 

3.1.1 The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for 
financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 7 Financial risk 
management. 

 
  

3.1.2 Cash Flow Information 
 2021 

 $ 
2020 

 $ 

a. Reconciliation of cash flow from operations to (loss)/profit after income 
tax 

   

Operating loss after income tax  (1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

Non-cash flows in loss from ordinary activities:    

 Share-based payments  94,510 325,000 

 Shares in other entity acquired at nil consideration  - (1,400,000) 

 Cost of shares to secure extension to binding agreement  (1,400,000) - 

 Finance charge – convertible notes  - 5,729,880 

 Gain on revaluation of derivative – convertible notes  - (368,136) 

 Loss on disposal of fixed assets  (91,555) - 

 Impairment of investment in other entities  1,400,000 - 

 Total foreign exchange impact on operating cash flows  (101,716) (39,373) 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and 
disposal of subsidiaries: 

   

 Decrease/(increase) in debtors & prepayments  (176,240) 33,454 

 Decrease/(increase) in inventories  310 (590) 

 (Increase)/decrease in accruals & provisions  78,007 90,992 

 Increase/(decrease) in payables  484,094 (25,764) 

Cash flow from operations  (1,320,458) (2,270,944) 

3.1.3 Accounting Policy 

For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at 
call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of 
financial position. 

 

3.2 Trade and other receivables  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

3.2.1 Current    

Other receivables  211,149 39,572 

  211,149 39,572 

3.2.2 At reporting date, there are no receivables past their due date. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 

3.2 Trade and other receivables (continued)    

3.2.3 Accounting Policy 

Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months 
of the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Allowance for expected credit losses of trade 
receivables is continually reviewed and those that are considered to be uncollectible are written off by reducing the 
carrying amount directly. An allowance account is used when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms. Factors considered by the Group in making this 
determination include known significant financial difficulties of the debtor, review of financial information and significant 
delinquency in making contractual payments to the Group. The allowance is set equal to the difference between the 
carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. Where receivables are short-term discounting is not applied in determining the allowance. 

 

3.3 Financial Assets    

3.3.1 Accounting policies - Investments and other financial assets  

a. Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

 those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and 

 those to be measured at amortised cost. 

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of 
the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in 
equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election 
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). 

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 

b. Recognition and derecognition 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

c. Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

 those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and 

 those to be measured at amortised cost. 

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of 
the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in 
equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election 
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). 

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 

3.3 Financial Assets (continued)    

3.3.2 Accounting policies - Investments and other financial assets (continued) 

d. Recognition and derecognition 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

e. Measurement 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows 
are solely payment of principal and interest. 

i. Debt instruments 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and 
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its 
debt instruments: 

 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign 
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or 
loss. 

 FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income 
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income 
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) 
and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

 FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a 
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within 
other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises. 

ii. Equity instruments 

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected 
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair 
value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such 
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments 
is established.  

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit 
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI 
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 

3.3 Financial Assets (continued)    

3.3.2 Accounting policies - Investments and other financial assets (continued) 

iii. Foreign exchange gains and losses 

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency are 
determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically;  

 for financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss;  

 for those financial assets and financial liabilities which are designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge of 
foreign currency risk foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in a separate component of equity. 

 for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss. Other exchange 
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve;  

 for financial assets and financial liabilities measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss; and  

 for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
in the investments revaluation reserve. 

f. Impairment 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk. 

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 9, which requires expected lifetime 
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 

 

3.4 Borrowings  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

3.4.1 Current: 
   

Convertible Note – Debt Liability  132,556,200 132,556,200 

Loan from investor  1,000,000 - 

  133,556,200 132,556,200 

3.4.2 Restructure of Arrangement With Noteholders 

Sundance and its Noteholders have agreed in principle a method in which the Convertible Notes will be converted to a 
waterfall payment system based on litigation proceeds. 

Under the new arrangements, the Noteholders have agreed to indefinitely forbear on their Convertible Notes for the 
duration of the proceedings, which are currently underway against the Governments of the Republic of the Congo and 
the Republic of Cameroon. 
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Note  3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

3.4 Borrowings (continued)    

In addition, if Sundance is successful in any of these proceedings and receives an award of damages, the Noteholders 
will be entitled to receive an agreed portion of any damages recovered 

 as compensation for their forbearance of their Convertible Notes, and 

 in repayment of the redemption amounts owing under the Convertible Notes.  

Essentially, the agreed portion of damages to which the Noteholders are entitled corresponds to the amount of 
damages awarded to Sundance, with Sundance's recovery increasing as the amount of damages awarded in any of the 
proceedings increases.  

Any amounts due to the Noteholders under the new arrangements will be paid after Burford has recovered its 
entitlements as the litigation funder under the Capital Provision Agreement. 

After these payments are made to the litigation funder and the Noteholders, Sundance will be able to use the balance 
of any damages awarded in the arbitration proceedings in its absolute discretion and in the interests of all 
shareholders. 

3.4.3 Accounting Policy 

The component parts of convertible loan notes issued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument. 

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a 
similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective 
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the liability component at the date of issue and the amount reported at reporting date represents the 
effective interest rate. 

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair 
value of the convertible note as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity and is not subsequently remeasured. 
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in 
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to other equity. Where the conversion option remains 
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible loan note, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to 
other equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option. 

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity components 
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognised 
directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability 
component and are amortised over the lives of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest method. 

If the embedded derivative is separated from its host contract (because it is not closely related to the host), then it must 
be accounted for as if it were a standalone derivative. The embedded derivative should be recognised in the statement 
of financial position at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss as they arise, unless it is designated 
as an effective hedging instrument in a cash flow or a net investment hedge. 

The Consolidated Entity measures financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis. Management uses 
significant estimates when estimating the fair value of financial instruments. 

3.4.4 Fair Value of Convertible Notes 

The following table provides an approximation of fair values. 

The fair value amounts have been derived from independent valuation at balance sheet date, while the carrying 
amount reflects the fair value less the capitalised borrowing costs incurred in the arrangement of the Noble and 
Investor Consortium convertible notes. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  3 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

3.4 Borrowings (continued)    
 

Financial Liabilities  
 

30 June 2021 30 June 2021 30 June 2020 30 June 2020 

  Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Carrying Amount 

$ 

Fair Value 

 

$ 

Carrying Amount 

$ 

Fair Value 

 

$ 

Convertible note debt liability 
- Noble 

53.08% 29,156,200 29,156,200 29,156,200 29,156,200 

Convertible note debt liability 
- Investor Consortium 

89.73% 33,600,000 33,600,000 33,600,000 33,600,000 

Convertible note debt liability 
- Wafin 

55.40% 60,000,000 60,000,000 60,000,000 60,000,000 

Convertible note debt liability 
– 2015 Investor Consortium 

67.62% 9,800,000 9,800,000 9,800,000 9,800,000 

  132,556,200 132,556,200 132,556,200 132,556,200 

 

3.4.5 Loan from Investor 

Short term funding received from an existing stakeholder to ensure that Sundance can manage working capital. 
 

3.5 Trade and other payables  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

3.5.1 Current:    

Unsecured    

Trade creditors  626,799 133,026 

Sundry payables and accruals  499,027 801,095 

Total unsecured liabilities  1,125,826 934,121 

3.5.2 Accounting Policy 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.  

Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 
 

3.6 Litigation Funding  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

3.6.1 Non-Current:    

Unsecured    

Advance from Litigation Funder  250,000 - 

Total unsecured liabilities  250,000 - 

3.6.2 Funding Arrangement 

Non-recourse funding provided by Burford to cover legal fees and other costs of arbitration. 
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Note  4 Non-financial assets and financial liabilities  

 

4.1 Other Significant Accounting Policies related to Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities 

4.1.1 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date. 

 

4.2 Other Current Assets  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

4.2.1 Current:    

Prepayments   37,400 58,262 

GST & VAT receivables  88,256 73,595 

  
125,656 131,857 

    

4.3 Inventory  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

4.3.1 Current:    

Consumables and equipment  12,519 829,545 

Provision for impairment  (11,773) (828,489) 

  746 1,056 

4.3.2 Non-Current:    

Drilling equipment and spares  - 2,625,836 

Provision for impairment  - (2,625,836) 

  - - 

4.3.3 Accounting Policy 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, 
direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 

 

4.4 Mine development assets  2021 
 $  $ 

 

2020 
 $  $ 

 

4.4.1 Mbalam-Nabeba Iron Ore Project:    

Carrying amount of asset  187,542,141 187,542,141 

Project impairment  (187,542,141) (187,542,141) 

  - - 

At 30 June 2021, the Company held a 90% interest in Cam Iron S.A. which holds a 100% interest in the Project in Cameroon 
and an 85% interest in Congo Iron S.A. which holds a 100% interest in the Project in Congo.   

The mine development assets were fully impaired in 2020 following the expiry of the Mbalam Convention. With 
expropriation of the Congo asset by the Government of Congo, the assets will continue to be fully impaired.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  4 Non-financial assets and financial liabilities  (continued) 
 

4.4 Mine development assets (continued)    

4.4.3 Accounting Policy 

Capitalised mine development expenditure is recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairments.  
Where commercial production in an area of interest has commenced, the associated costs, together with any forecast 
future capital expenditure necessary to develop proved and probable reserves, are amortised over the estimated 
economic life of the mine on a units-of-production basis.  Changes in factors such as estimates of proved and probable 
reserves that affect unit-of production calculations are dealt with on a prospective basis.  The application of this policy 
requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular, 
the assessment of whether economic quantities of reserves are found and the future US$ iron ore price and ability of the 
entity to recoup the expenditure through successful development of the area.  Any such estimates and assumptions may 
change as new information becomes available.  If, after having capitalised expenditure under this policy, the Directors 
conclude that the Group is unlikely to recover the expenditure by future exploitation or sale, then the relevant capitalised 
amount will be written off to the income statement.   

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows 
that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  4 Non-financial assets and financial liabilities  (continued) 
 

4.5 Provisions  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

4.5.1 Current:    

Employee benefits provision  194,748 139,533 

  194,748 139,533 

4.5.2 Non-Current:    

Employee benefits provision  371,111 66,794 

  371,111 66,794 

4.5.3 Accounting Policy 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably. 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in 
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange 
for that service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of short term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. 

 

4.6 Investment in other entity 

As consideration for Sundance agreeing to extend the end date for completion of the New Agreement, AustSino agreed 
to issue 107,692,308 fully paid ordinary AustSino shares to Sundance at a deemed issue price of $0.013 per share at no 
cost to Sundance. 

These shares were issued on 24 December 2019. 

The investment has now been fully impaired. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  5  Equity 

 

5.1 Issued capital Note 2021 
No. 

2020 
 No. 

2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

Fully paid ordinary shares at no par value  9,450,021,556 9,450,021,556 432,049,810 432,049,810 

5.1.1 Ordinary shares      

At the beginning of the year  9,450,021,556 8,945,846,952 432,049,810 429,979,810 

Shares issued during the year:      

 12 July 2019 @ $0.00375  5.1.4 - 53,333,333 - 200,000 

 6 August 2019 @ $0.00375  5.1.4 - 26,666,667 - 100,000 

 5 September 2019 @ $0.00375  5.1.4 - 26,666,667 - 100,000 

 5 September 2019 @ $0.00375  5.1.5 - 26,666,667 - 100,000 

 24 September 2019 @ $0.00375  5.1.5 - 22,666,667 - 85,000 

 14 October 2019 @ $0.00375  5.1.4 - 26,666,667 - 100,000 

 16 December 2019 @ $0.00375  5.1.4 - 26,666,667 - 100,000 

 16 December 2019 @ $0.0045  5.1.4 - 66,666,667 - 300,000 

 14 January 2020 @ $0.005  5.1.3 - 65,000,000 - 325,000 

 31 January 2020 @ $0.0035  5.1.6 - 74,285,714 - 260,000 

 10 March 2020 @ $0.0045  5.1.4 - 22,222,222 - 100,000 

 2 April 2020 @ $0.0045  5.1.4 - 22,222,222 - 100,000 

 12 June 2020 @ $0.0045  5.1.4 - 22,222,222 - 100,000 

 30 June 2020 @ $0.0045  5.1.4 - 22,222,222 - 100,000 

At reporting date  9,450,021,556 9,450,021,556 432,049,810 432,049,810 

5.1.2 Terms and Conditions 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the number 
of shares held. At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called otherwise each 
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

5.1.3 Issued to senior staff under Employee Share Option Plan 

5.1.4 Issued to AustSino via a placement 

5.1.5 Issued to sophisticated investors via a placement 

5.1.6 Issued on conversion of Convertible Notes 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  5 Equity (continued) 
 

5.1.7 Accounting Policy 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options, or for the acquisition of a business, are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase 
consideration. 

 

5.2 Options 

The total number of options on issue are as follows: 

 Note 2021 
No. 

2020 
 No. 

2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

Unlisted options  789,333,334 789,333,334 4,436,000 4,436,000 

5.2.1 Unlisted options     
 

At the beginning of the year  789,333,334 1,460,000,000 4,436,000 54,410,000 

Options issued during the year:      

 28 August 2019 @ $0.006 5.2.2 - 26,666,667 - 160,000 

 29 August 2019 @ $0.006 5.2.3 - 22,666,667 - 136,000 

Options lapsed during the year:      

 23 September 2019 @ $0.0695 5.2.4 - (50,000,000) - (3,475,000) 

 23 September 2019 @ $0.0695 5.2.5 - (200,000,000) - (14,000,000) 

 23 September 2019 @ $0.0695 5.2.6 - (260,000,000) - (18,200,000) 

 28 November 2019 @ $0.0695   (210,000,000) 
 

5.2.7 - (210,000,000) - (14,595,000) 

At reporting date  789,333,334 789,333,334 4,436,000 4,436,000 

5.2.2 26,666,667 options issued on 28 August 2019 which entitle the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Parent 
Entity for 0.60 cents per share expiring on 28 August 2024. 

5.2.3 22,666,667 options issued on 29 August 2019 which entitle the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Parent 
Entity for 0.60 cents per share expiring on 29 August 2024. 

5.2.4 50,000,000 options issued on 23 September 2014 which entitled the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the 
Parent Entity for 6.95 cents per share expired on 23 September 2019 

5.2.5 200,000,000 options issued on 1 December 2015 which entitled the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the 
Parent Entity for 6.95 cents per share expired on 23 September 2019 

5.2.6 260,000,000 options issued on 1 December 2015 which entitled the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the 
Parent Entity for 6.95 cents per share expired on 23 September 2019 

5.2.7 210,000,000 options issued on 28 November which entitled the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Parent 
Entity for 6.95 cents per share expired on 28 November 2019 
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Note  5 Equity (continued) 

 

5.3 Performance rights   

The total number of performance rights on issue over ordinary shares are as follows:   

 Note 2021 
No. 

2020 
 No. 

2021 
$ 

2020 
 $. 

Unlisted Performance rights  200,000,000 - 308,000 - 

5.3.1 Unlisted Performance rights   
   

At the beginning of the year  - - - - 

Performance rights issued during the year:      

 15 September 2020 5.3.2 300,000,000 - 462,000 - 

Performance rights lapsed during the year:      

 31 December 2020 5.3.3 (100,000,000) - (154,000) - 

At reporting date  200,000,000 - 

 

308,000 

 

- 

5.3.2 300,000,000 unlisted performance rights issued for nil consideration under the SDL Performance Rights Plan 
approved by shareholders on 29 November 2017.  Performance rights were approved by shareholders at the EGM 
on 29 July 2020   and expire on 15 September 2023.   

5.3.3 100,000,000 unlisted performance rights lapsed on 31 December 2020 due to performance condition not satisfied. 
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SECTION  B. RISK 
This section of the notes discusses the Group’s exposure to various risks and shows how these could affect the Group’s financial 
position and performance. 
 

Note  6 Financial risk management 

6.1 Financial Risk Management Policies 

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks and accounts payable. The Group does not 

speculate in the trading of derivative instruments. 

Risk management has focused on limiting liabilities to a level which could be extinguished by sale of assets if necessary. 

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; credit risk, capital risk, foreign currency risk, and liquidity 

risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 

minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

Risk management is carried out by the Board as a whole and reviewed on a regular basis.  
 

 

 

 

Note 

Floating 

Interest 

Rate 

Fixed 

Interest 

Rate 

Non- 

interest  

Bearing 

 

 2021  

Total 

Floating 

Interest 

Rate 

Fixed 

Interest 

Rate 

Non- 

interest  

Bearing 

 

 2020 

Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets          

 Cash and cash equivalents  3.1 772,933 - - 772,933 753,385 - - 753,385 

 Trade and other receivables 3.2 - - 211,149 211,149 - - 39,572 39,572 

Total Financial Assets  
772,933 - 211,149 984,082 753,385 - 39,572 792,957 

          

Financial Liabilities          

Financial liabilities at amortised cost           

 Trade and other payables 3.5 - - 1,125,826 1,125,826 - - 934,121 934,121 

 Borrowings 3.4 - - 133,556,200 133,556,200 - - 132,556,200 132,556,200 

 Advance from Litigation Funder 3.6 - - 250,000 250,000 - - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 
 

- - 134,932,026 134,932,026 - - 133,490,321 133,490,321 

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) 
 

772,933 - (134,720,877) (133,947,944) 753,385 - (133,450,749) (132,697,364) 
 

6.2 Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

6.2.1 Market risk 

a. Interest rate risk 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting 

period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial 

instruments. The Group is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments. 

Neither the Group nor the Company have any interest bearing liabilities subject to interest rate fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk is not material to the Group. 
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Note  6 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

6.2.2 Credit risk 

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises largely from cash at bank. 

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial 
instruments entered into by the Group.  

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad 
debts is insignificant. The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure is limited to the carrying value of its financial assets as 
indicated on the statement of financial position. 

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and 
other receivables. 

The objective of the Group is to minimise the risk of loss from credit risk.  The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing 
with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk 
of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of investment grade 
and above. This information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group 
uses other publicly available financial information and its own trading records to rate its major counterparties. The 
Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of 
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.  

Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits.  The counterparty limits approved during the year are that an 
individual counterparty does not exceed: 40% where gross monetary assets are in excess of $50 million; 50% where gross 
monetary assets are between $10 million $50 million; and 100% where gross monetary assets are below $10 million. 
Concentration of credit risk related to any counterparty did not exceed these limits during the year; the maximum 
counterparty risk recorded during the year amounted to 70%.The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial 
instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.  

6.2.3 Capital risk 

The Group and Company endeavour to manage their capital to ensure the Group and the Company will be able to 

continue as going concerns while maximising the development outcomes from its exploration expenditure.   

The capital structure of the Group and the Company consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, 

comprising issued capital, reserves, carried forward losses and non-controlling interests.  At 30 June 2021 the Group and 

the Company have convertible note facilities with Wafin, Noble, the Investor Consortium, and 2015 Investor Consortium. 

6.2.4 Foreign currency risk 

As a result of significant investment operations in Africa, the Group’s balance sheet can be affected significantly by 

movements in the XAF/A$ exchange rates. The Group does not currently hedge this exposure.  

6.2.5 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The objective of 

the consolidated entity is to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet commitments under normal and stressed conditions. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, and the availability of funding through an adequate 

amount of committed credit facilities.  

The Group did not have access to any undrawn borrowing facilities at the reporting date. 

All liabilities are current and will be repaid in normal trading terms 

a. Contractual Maturities 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities of the Group: 
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Note  6 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 

 Within 1 Year Greater Than 1 Year Total 

 

2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 

2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 

2021 

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate 

% 

 

 

 

 

2021 

$ 

2020 

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate 

% 

 

 

 

 

2020 

$ 

Financial liabilities due for 

payment     

 

 

 

 

Trade and other payables 1,125,826 934,121 - - 0.00%% 1,125,826 0.00%% 934,121 

Debt liability 132,556,200 132,556,200 - - 64.50%% 132,556,200 64.50%% 132,556,200 

Loan from investor 1,000,000 - - - 0.00%% 1,000,000 --- - 

Advance from Litigation Funder - - 250,000 - 0.00%% 250,000 --- - 

Total contractual outflows 134,682,026 133,490,321 250,000 - 
 

134,932,026 
 

133,490,321 

Financial assets         

Cash and cash equivalents  772,933 753,385 - - 0.01%% 772,933 0.08%% 753,385 

Trade and other receivables 211,149 39,572 - - 0.00%0. 211,149 0.00%% 39,572 

Total anticipated inflows 984,082 792,957 - - 
 

984,082 
 

792,957 

Net (outflow)/inflow on financial 

instruments (133,697,944) (132,697,364) (250,000) - 
 

(133,947,944)  
 

(137,364) 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier or at significantly different amounts. 

 

6.2.6 Net fair value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary assets and financial liabilities 

approximates their carrying values. 

a. Fair value hierarchy 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement: Disclosures requires disclosure of the fair value measurements by level of the 

following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

 Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

 Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

 Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)  

All financial assets are classified as Level 1 and their value has been calculated in line with accounting policy Note 22.5 
Fair Value. 
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Note  7 Capital management 

Management controls the capital of the Group. Their objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, so that they may continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The 
capital structure of the consolidated entity consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent comprising issued capital, 
reserves and accumulative losses. 

Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, the Group does not have ready access to credit facilities, with the primary source of 
funding being equity raisings. Therefore, the focus of the Group’s capital risk management is the current working capital position 
against the requirements of the Group to meet corporate overheads. The Group’s strategy is to ensure appropriate liquidity is 
maintained to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view to initiating appropriate capital raisings as required. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

The working capital position of the Group at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 is as follows: 

 Note 2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 3.1 772,933 753,385 

Trade and other receivables 3.2 211,149 39,572 

Other current assets 4.2 125,656 131,857 

Inventory 4.3 746 1,056 

Borrowings 3.4 (133,556,200) (132,556,200) 

Trade and other payables 3.5 (1,125,826) (934,121) 

Provisions 4.5 (194,748) (139,533) 

Working capital position  (133,766,290) (132,703,984) 
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SECTION  C. GROUP STRUCTURE 
This section provides information which will help users understand how the Group structure affects the financial position and 
performance of the Group as a whole. In particular, there is information about: 

(a) changes to the structure that occurred during the year as a result of business combinations and the disposal of a discontinued 
operation 

(b) transactions with non-controlling interests, and 

(c) interests in joint operations. 

A list of significant subsidiaries is provided in Note 9. 
 

Note  8 Interest in subsidiaries 

8.1 Information about principal subsidiaries 

The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares which are held directly by the Group 
and the proportion of ownership interest held equals the voting rights held by the Group. Investments in subsidiaries are 
accounted for at fair value. Each subsidiaries’ country of incorporation is also its principal place of business: 

 
Country of 

Incorporation 
Class of 
Shares 

Percentage Owned 
2021 2020 

Subsidiaries of Sundance Resources Limited     

 Cam Iron S.A. Cameroon Ordinary 90 90 

 Sundance Minerals Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 

 Sundance Exploration Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 

 Sundance Mining Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 

 Congo Iron S.A. Congo Ordinary 85 85 

 Sangha Resources S.A. Congo Ordinary 80 80 

Subsidiaries of Cam Iron S.A.     

 Mbarga Mine Co S.A. Cameroon Ordinary 90 90 

 CI RailCo S.A. Cameroon Ordinary 90 90 

 CI PortCo S.A. Cameroon Ordinary 90 90 

Subsidiaries of CI RailCo S.A. and CI PortCo S.A.     

 Mineral Terminal and Rail Operations Company S.A. Cameroon Ordinary 90 90 

a. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at fair value. 

8.1.2 Accounting Policy – Principles of Consolidation 

As at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities have been incorporated into the consolidated financial 
statements as well as their results for the year then ended. Where controlled entities have entered (left) the Consolidated 
Group during the year, their operating results have been included (excluded) from the date control was obtained (ceased). 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by 
the Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests 
even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.  

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests 
and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 
recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at 
fair value at the date control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-
for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 

All intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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SECTION  D. UNRECOGNISED ITEMS 
This section of the notes includes other information that must be disclosed to comply with the accounting standards and other 
pronouncements, but that is not immediately related to individual line items in the financial statements. 

 

Note  9  Contingent assets and liabilities 

The Consolidated Entity is aware of the following contingent assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2021: 

9.1 Fiscal compliance 

The Group, including its subsidiaries in Cameroon and Congo are engaged in ongoing discussions with the financial 
administrations on customs, indirect taxes and other fiscal administrative matters.  The ongoing discussions may or may 
not lead to further costs being incurred by the Group. 

9.2 Legal services 

On or around August 2017, Sundance engaged Clayton Utz to provide legal advice to the company and some of its former 
and current directors in relation to the investigation by the Australian Federal Police into allegations of Sundance’s 
involvement in foreign bribery and corruption in respect of the Group’s African operations during the period 2006 to 
2008.  A portion of the debt in relation to legal services payable to Clayton Utz remains unpaid.  Clayton Utz has agreed 
to forbear from calling on the debt conditional upon Sundance being successful in its action against the Republic of Congo, 
either by way of negotiated settlement, award or judgement.    

 
 

Note  10  Expenditure commitments 

With the expiry of EP92 and the expropriation of the Congo mining permit no further minimum expenditure is required. 
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Note  11 Events subsequent to reporting date 

Other than set out below, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial periods: 

11.1.1 Leadership change 

Sundance announced on the 15 July 2021 that the Board had completed a review of its leadership and management 
structure resulting in the Company’s long-serving Chief Executive Officer, Giulio Casello, becoming a Non-Executive 
Director of the Company and entering into a consultancy agreement with the Group.  This allows Sundance to benefit 
from Mr Casello’s experience and knowledge of the Company and its legal proceedings as Sundance focuses on its 
litigation proceedings against the governments of Congo and Cameroon.   The role of Chief Executive Officer no longer 
being required with responsibilities to be absorbed by the Board of Directors. 

11.1.2 Restructure of arrangements with Noteholders 

On the 11 August 2021 Sundance announced that it had reached an agreement with Senrigan Master Fund, Noble 
Resources International Pte Ltd, D. E. Shaw Composite Holdings International Ltd, Wafin Limited and BSOF Master Fund 
L.P. (together, the “Noteholders”) to restructure the Company's existing debt and security arrangements. 

Under the new arrangements, the Noteholders have agreed to indefinitely forbear on their Convertible Notes for the 
duration of the proceedings, which are currently underway against the Governments of the Republic of the Congo and 
the Republic of Cameroon. 

In addition, if Sundance is successful in any of these proceedings and receives an award of damages, the Noteholders will 
be entitled to receive an agreed portion of any damages recovered: 

 as compensation for their forbearance of their Convertible Notes, and  

 in repayment of the redemption amounts owing under the Convertible Notes.  

Any amounts due to the Noteholders under the new arrangements will be paid after Burford has recovered its 
entitlements as the litigation funder under the Capital Provision Agreement. 

After these payments are made to the litigation funder and the Noteholders, Sundance will be able to use the balance of 
any damages awarded in the arbitration proceedings in its absolute discretion and in the interests of all shareholders. 

11.1.3 Commencement of pre-discovery action against AustSino and Mr Ding 

Prior to the end of the reporting period (on the 27 June 2021), Sundance announced it would consider the need to take 
further legal action following the announcement that AustSino had signed an MOU with Bestway Finance Ltd (“Bestway”) 
and the Government of Cameroon for the construction and operation of infrastructure, including a railway from the 
Mbalam iron ore mine to the port of Kribi and a multi-modal mineral harbour. 

As Sundance disclosed at the time, the Company and AustSino had partnered for two years to work together on the 
development of the Mbalam-Nabeba Iron Ore Project, which included the development of Mbalam in Cameroon and the 
Nabeba mine in Congo as well as the required rail and port infrastructure to deliver iron ore onto ships at Kiribi. As part 
of this partnership agreement and in good faith, Sundance introduced AustSino and several of AustSino’s Chinese industry 
partners to authorities in Cameroon and Congo. 

On the 11 October 2021 Sundance announced that it had serious concerns regarding the conduct of AustSino and 
AustSino’s Executive Chairman, Mr Chun Ming Ding, in the period leading up to and following the unlawful expropriation 
of Sundance's iron ore assets by Congo in late November 2020. 

Sundance wishes to commence proceedings against AustSino and Mr Ding. However, the Directors of Sundance do not 
have all of the information they require to determine whether or not to institute these proceedings against AustSino and 
Mr Ding or what cause or causes of action are available to Sundance in any such proceedings. 

Accordingly, following a period of investigation, Sundance has applied for Pre-Action Discovery against AustSino and Mr 
Ding in the Supreme Court of Western Australia. 

11.1.4 Change of Company Secretary 

Sundance Company Secretary, Carol Marinkovich resigned from her position and was replaced by Sundance Non- 
Executive Director, Brett Fraser on 15 October 2021. 
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SECTION  E. OTHER INFORMATION 
This section of the notes includes other information that must be disclosed to comply with the accounting standards and other 
pronouncements, but that is not immediately related to individual line items in the financial statements. 

 

Note  11 Key management personnel compensation  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

Short-term employee benefits  559,476 515,740 

Post-employment benefits  39,744 33,733 

Share-based payments  94,510 - 

  693,729 549,473 

 

Note  12 Related party transactions    

12.1 KMP and related party transactions    

The Company is the parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group.  Balances and transactions between the Company 
and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
disclosed in this note.  Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below. 

Sundance has adopted a policy to specify the circumstances in which it is deemed appropriate for Management to 
contract the services of a Director-Related Entity.  This Policy provides that Sundance is only to enter into a transaction 
with a Director-Related entity in the following circumstances: 

 Where any proposed transaction is at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 

than those available to other parties; and 

 Where it is believed that the Director-Related entity is the best equipped to undertake the work after taking into 

account: experience, expertise, knowledge of the Group, and value for money. 

12.2 Equity holdings  2021 

 $ 

2020 

 $ 

Directors and their related entities held directly, indirectly or beneficially 
in the Company the following: 

 
  

 Ordinary shares  1,750,492,986 1,750,492,986 

 Options  200,000,000 200,000,000 

 Performance rights  200,000,000 - 

There are no other related party transactions other than those payments to Directors as Board members. 
 

Note  14 Auditors' remuneration  2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

Remuneration of the auditors of the Group for:    

 Auditing or reviewing the financial report for the Company  38,000 54,800 

 Auditing or reviewing the financial report of foreign subsidiaries  30,860 30,014 

  68,860 84,814 
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Note  15 Earnings per share (EPS) Note 2021 
 $ 

2020 
 $ 

15.1 Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss    

(Loss) / profit for the year  (1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

Less: loss attributable to non-controlling equity interest  2,177,170 2,498,797 

(Loss) / profit used in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS  569,302 (4,117,610) 

    

  2021 
 No. 

2020 
No. 

15.2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

year used in calculation of basic EPS  9,450,021,556 9,225,128,764 
    

  2021 
₵ 

2020 
₵ 

15.3 Earnings per share    

Basic EPS (cents per share) 15.5.1 0.006 (0.045) 

15.4 The Group does not report diluted earnings per share where options would not result in the issue of ordinary shares for less 

than the average market price during the period (out of the money).  

In addition, the Group does not report diluted earnings per share on annual losses generated by the Group. At the end 
of the 2021 financial year, the Group has 1,089,333,334 (2020: 789,333,334) unissued shares under options out of the 
money and which are anti-dilutive. 

15.5 Accounting Policy 

15.5.1 Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year. 

15.5.2 Diluted earnings per share 

Potential shares as a result of options outstanding at the end of the year are not dilutive and therefore have not been 
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 

 

Note 16 Share-based payments    

16.1 Employee share-based payment plans 

The Group has an ownership-based remuneration plan for executives and senior employees.  Historically an option based 
plan was used and in 2011 this was changed to a performance rights based plan.  The Employee Share Option Plan was 
reintroduced in 2017. 

Each employee share option or performance right converts into one ordinary share of Sundance upon exercise. No 
amounts are paid or payable by the recipient upon receipt of the performance right or option, and only upon exercise 
for option holders.  The performance rights and options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Performance 
rights or options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry.  The number of 
performance rights and options vested is calculated in accordance with the performance criteria approved by the Board.  
The performance criteria reward executives and senior management to the extent of the Group’s and the individuals’ 
achievement judged against achievement of corporate and operational objectives.  The performance conditions are 
derived from the following performance areas: achieving funding (equity and debt) commitment for Stage 1 of the 
Project; delivery of Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three or four year period; and increasing the Net Present 
Value (‘NPV’) of the Project.   
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Note 16 Share-based payments (continued)    

16.1 Employee share-based payment plans (continued) 

The Group has an ownership-based remuneration plan for executives and senior employees.  Historically an option based 
plan was used and in 2011 this was changed to a performance rights based plan.  The Employee Share Option Plan was 
reintroduced in 2017. 

Each employee share option or performance right converts into one ordinary share of Sundance upon exercise. No 
amounts are paid or payable by the recipient upon receipt of the performance right or option, and only upon exercise 
for option holders.  The performance rights and options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Performance 
rights or options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry.  The number of 
performance rights and options vested is calculated in accordance with the performance criteria approved by the Board.  
The performance criteria reward executives and senior management to the extent of the Group’s and the individuals’ 
achievement judged against achievement of corporate and operational objectives.  The performance conditions are 
derived from the following performance areas: achieving funding (equity and debt) commitment for Stage 1 of the 
Project; delivery of Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three or four year period; and increasing the Net Present 
Value (‘NPV’) of the Project.   

Options issued under the Employee Share Option Plan have varying performance conditions derived from key 
organisational objectives and are conditional on the holder remaining an employee at vesting date. 

The Plan was adopted in order to ensure that the Company has appropriate mechanisms to continue to attract and retain 
the services of employees of a high calibre.  

 

 

16.2 Movement in share-based payment arrangements during the year - Options 

A summary of the movements of all company options issued as share-based payments is as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 789,333,334 $0.006 1,460,000,000 $0.037 

Issued during the year - - 49,333,334 $0.006 

Forfeited or expired during the year - - (720,000,000) $0.070 

Outstanding at year-end 789,333,334 $0.006 789,333,334 $0.006 

Exercisable at year-end 789,333,334 $0.006 789,333,334 $0.006 

Total Company options on issue 789,333,334 $0.006 789,333,334 $0.006 

i. No share-based payment options were exercised during the year.  

ii. The weighted average remaining contractual life of share-based payment options outstanding at year end was 2.3 
years (2020: 3.3 years). The weighted average exercise price of outstanding shares at the end of the reporting period 
was $0.006 (2020: $0.006). 

iii. The fair value of the options granted to directors, employees and consultants is deemed to represent the value of the 
services received over the vesting period. 
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Note  16 Share-based payments (continued) 
 
 

16.3 Movement in share-based payment arrangements during the year – Performance rights 

A summary of the movements of all company options issued as share-based payments is as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - 

Issued during the year 300,000,000 $0.00154 - - 

Forfeited or expired during the year (100,000,000) $0.00154 - - 

Outstanding at year-end 200,000,000 $0.00154 - - 

Exercisable at year-end 200,000,000 $0.00154 - - 

Total Company performance rights on issue 200,000,000 $0.00154 - - 

i. The performance rights issued during the year were issued under the SDL Performance Rights Plan approved by 
shareholders on 29 November 2017.  Performance rights were approved by shareholders at the EGM on 29 July 2020.  

ii. The weighted average remaining contractual life of share-based payment performance rights outstanding at year end 
was 2.08 years (2020: nil). The weighted average exercise price of outstanding shares at the end of the reporting 
period was $0.00154 (2020: nil). 

iii. The fair value of the performance rights granted to directors, employees and consultants is deemed to represent the 
value of the services received over the vesting period. 

 

 

16.4 Fair value of performance rights granted during the year 

The fair value of the performance rights granted were calculated using the Monte Carlo Model, applying the following 
inputs: 

 Grant date: 29 July 2020 

 Grant date share price: $0.0016 

 Number of performance rights issued: 300,000,000 

 Term (years): 3 

 Expected share price volatility: 171.50% 

 Risk-free interest rate: 0.25% 

 Value per performance right $0.00154 

The estimated life of the performance rights has been used for valuation purposes.  The minimum life of the performance 
rights is the length of any vesting period.  The maximum life is based on the expiry date.  

As Sundance has been delisted from quotation on the ASX since 21 December 2020, for the purposes of valuation, a 
future estimated volatility has been used in the pricing model. 
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Note  16 Share-based payments (continued) 

 

16.4.1 Accounting policy 

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to holders of equity-based 
instruments (including employees) are generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which 
the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately 
recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the 
vesting date. 

For share-based payment awards with non-market conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-based payment is 
measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes. In 
determining the fair value of share-based payments granted, a key estimate and judgement is the volatility input assumed 
within the pricing model.  

16.4.2 Key estimate 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an internal valuation using a Monte Carlo 
pricing model, using the assumptions detailed above. 

 

Note  17 Operating segments 

17.1 Identification of reportable segments 

The Group operates predominantly in the mining industry. This comprises the evaluation and de-risking of its Mbalam-Nabeba 
iron ore project in the Republic of Cameroon and the Republic of Congo. 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on internal reporting.  The Group only has the one project to which 
resources are allocated and performance assessed.   

17.2 Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 

17.2.1 Accounting policies adopted 

Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the chief decision maker with respect to operating 
segments, are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to those adopted in the annual financial 
statements of the Group. 

17.2.2 Inter-segment transactions 

Inter-segment transactions are priced at cost within the Group. 

Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are recognised at the consideration received/to be received net of transaction costs.  
All such transactions are eliminated on consolidation of the Group’s financial statements. 
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Note  17 Operating segments (continued) 

17.2.3 Segment assets 

Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to that segment that receives majority economic value 
from that asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly identifiable on the basis of their nature and physical 
location. 

17.2.4 Segment liabilities 

Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is a direct nexus between the incurrence of the liability and the operations of 
the segment. Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered to relate to the Group as a whole and are not allocated. 
Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and certain direct borrowings. 

17.2.5 Unallocated items 

The following items of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as they are not 
considered part of the core operations of any segment: 

 Revenue and expenditures related to head office and corporate activities 

 Impairment of assets and other non-recurring items of revenue or expense 

 Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 Convertible note borrowings 
 

For the Year to 30 June 2021 

 
2021 

$ 

 
2020 

$ 

Segment revenue and other income  335,525 - 

 
   

Segment loss    

Mbalam-Nabeba Iron Ore Project  (610,925) (613,678) 

Items not directly allocable to identifiable segments    

 Interest income  474 740 

 Unallocated income  2,253,134 1,400,000 

 Unallocated expenses  (3,586,076) (7,403,469) 

Loss before Income Tax 
 

(1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

 Income tax  - - 

Consolidated segment loss for the period  (1,607,868) (6,616,407) 

    

Segment Assets    

Mbalam-Nabeba Iron Ore Project  94,402 114,701 

 Unallocated Assets  1,016,082 2,211,169 

Consolidated Assets  1,110,484 2,325,870 

    

Segment Liabilities    

Mbalam-Nabeba Iron Ore Project  229,498 294,156 

 Unallocated Liabilities  135,268,387 133,402,492 

Consolidated Liabilities  135,497,885 133,696,648 

 



ANNUAL REPORT   SUNDANCE RESOURCES LIMITED 

30 June 2021  AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
  ABN 19 055 719 394 
  

   
 

 P a g e  | 48 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note  18 Parent entity disclosures  2021 

 $ 

2020 

 $ 

18.1 Financial Position of Sundance Resources Limited    

Current assets  1,016,082 811,169 

Non-current assets  (135,096) 1,220,545 

Total assets  880,986 2,031,714 

Current liabilities  133,647,276 133,335,698 

Non-current liabilities  1,621,111 66,794 

Total liabilities  135,268,387 133,402,492 

Net assets  (134,387,401) (131,370,778) 

Equity 
   

Issued capital  432,100,658 432,100,658 

Capital pending issue  - 1,400,000 

Share based payments premium reserve  29,616,346 29,521,836 

Transactions with non-controlling interests reserve  13,512,500 13,512,500 

Accumulated losses  (609,616,905) (607,905,772) 

Total equity  (134,387,401) (131,370,778) 

18.2 Financial assets of Sundance Resources Limited    

Loans to subsidiaries  383,217,770 382,794,272 

Loans to subsidiaries written off  (886,018) (886,018) 

Less: Provision for impairment on loans to subsidiaries  (382,466,848) (382,087,710) 

Interest receivable on loans to subsidiaries  224,636,359 206,216,330 

Less: Provision for impairment of interest on loans to subsidiaries  (224,636,359) (206,216,330) 

Net carrying value  (135,096) (179,455) 

18.3 Financial Performance of Sundance Resources Limited    

Loss for the year   (1,711,133) (6,655,546) 

Total comprehensive loss   (1,711,133) (6,655,546) 

18.4 Guarantees entered into by Sundance Resources Limited  

There are no guarantees entered into by Sundance Resources Limited for the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 
(2020: none). 

18.5 Contingent liabilities of Sundance Resources Limited 

Refer to Note 9.2 for details regarding contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021. 

18.6 Commitments of Sundance Resources Limited 

There are no commitments as at 30 June 2021. 
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NOTE  19 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 
  

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes above. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

19.1 Basis of preparation 

19.1.1 Reporting Entity 

Sundance Resources Limited is an unlisted public company limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The 
Company’s registered office is at 45 Ventnor Avenue, West Perth, Western Australia. These are the consolidated financial 
statements and notes of Sundance Resources Limited (the Company) and controlled entities (collectively the Group). The 
financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of preparing the 
consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. The Group is a for-profit entity and is primarily involved 
in advancing legal proceedings in the International Chamber of Commerce in London and Paris against the Governments 
of Congo and Cameroon over the illegal expropriation of the Group’s Nabeba iron ore permit in the Republic of the Congo.  

The separate financial statements of Sundance Resources Limited, as the parent entity, have not been presented with this 
financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

19.1.2 Basis of accounting 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AAS Board) and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) set out accounting policies that the AAS Board has concluded would result in a 
financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to which they apply. 
Compliance with AASBs ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with IFRS as issued by the IASB.  

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 22 December 2021 by the directors of the Company. 

19.1.3 Going Concern 

The 30 June 2021 financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis that contemplates the continuity of 

normal business activities and the realization of assets and extinguishment of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  

At 30 June 2021, the Consolidated Entity had a working capital deficiency of $133.8 million (30 June 2020: $132.7 million).   

On 9 August 2021 Sundance signed a legally binding deed with Senrigan Master Fund, Noble Resources International Pte 

Ltd, D. E. Shaw Composite Holdings International, Ltd, Wafin Limited and BSOF Master Fund L.P. (together the 

“Noteholders”) to indefinitely forbear their Convertible Notes in consideration for Sundance assignment of a portion of 

the proceeds from the proceedings underway against the governments of Cameroon and Congo (“Noteholder Waterfall 

Deed”). 

During the period the Consolidated Entity incurred a net loss of $1.6 million and incurred net cash outflows from operating 

activities of $1.3 million for the year ended 30 June 2021.  

 The Directors believe that at the date of signing the financial statements there are reasonable grounds to believe that 

the Consolidated Entity will have sufficient funds to meet their obligations as and when they fall due and are of the 

opinion that the use of the going concern basis remains appropriate. The ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue as 

a going concern is based on: 
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19 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 As announced on 3 May 2021 a conditional binding agreement Capital Provision Agreement (“CPA”) was entered 

into by the Company and Burford. This agreement will result in $250,000 per quarter being available to Sundance 

for working capital purposes for at least the next three years.  All funds received from Burford are non-recourse and 

will continue unless the CPA is terminated due to legal advice being received that the proceedings are no longer 

commercially viable. 

 Following the execution of the Noteholder Waterfall Deed and the modification to the Security Trust and 

Intercreditor Deed on 9 August 2021 the CPA became unconditional and the Convertible Notes have been forborne 

indefinitely unless the CPA is terminated.  It was also announced on 12 April 2021 that a legally binding term sheet 

was signed with an investor for $1 million. The funds have been received and are being used to advance the litigation 

and provide working capital. 

 Litigation costs for the proceedings against the governments of Cameroon and Congo are being funded under the 

CPA with Burford. 

Should the Consolidated Entity be unable to achieve the matters set out above, a material uncertainty would exist as to 

whether the Consolidated Entity will be able to continue as a going concern and therefore, whether it will realise its assets 

and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business.   

The financial report does not include adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset 

amounts, or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Consolidated Entity not 

continue as a going concern. 

19.1.4 Comparative Figures 

Where required by AASBs comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current 
financial year. 

Where the Group retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement or reclassifies items in its 
financial statements, an additional (third) statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements is presented. 

19.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances 

19.2.1 Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the parent 
entity’s functional and presentation currency. 

19.2.2 Transaction and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the month of 
the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary items are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet 
date.  Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the month of the 
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values 
were determined.  

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the profit or loss except where 
deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income to the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in other comprehensive income, otherwise the exchange 
difference is recognised in the profit or loss. 

19.2.3 Group companies and foreign operations 

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s 
presentation currency are translated as follows: 
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19 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

19.2.3 Group companies and foreign operations (continued) 

 assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date; 

 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and 

retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the month of the transaction. 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign currency 
translation reserve in the statement of financial position. These differences are recognised in the profit or loss in the 
period in which the operation is disposed. 

19.3 Value Added Tax (VAT) 

Value Added Tax (VAT) is the generic term for the broad-based consumption taxes that the Group is exposed to such as: 
Australia (Goods and Services Tax or GST); Congo (VAT); and in Cameroon (VAT), hereafter collectively referred to as GST. 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow. 

19.4 Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 
These estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Judgements made by management in the application of AASBs that have significant effect on the consolidated financial 
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 19. 

19.4.1 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

Management discusses with the Board the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting 
policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. The estimates and judgements that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 

a. Key estimate – Taxation 

Refer Note 2 Income Tax. 

b. Key estimate – Share-based payments 

Refer Note 16 Share-based payments. 

19.4.2 Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may have, 
on the consolidated entity based on known information. This amongst other impacts has resulted in full lockdowns in 
Cameroon and Congo and travel restrictions to China. Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently 
appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to 
events or conditions which may impact the consolidated entity unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a 
result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.  
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19.5 Fair Value 

19.5.1 Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, depending 
on the requirements of the applicable AASB. 

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly 
unforced transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement date. 

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to 
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific asset 
or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or 
more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market 
data. 

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability (i.e. the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the 
most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the 
receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account 
transaction costs and transport costs). 

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also considers a market participant's ability to use the asset in its 
highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The fair value of liabilities and the entity's own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-based payment 
arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to the transfer of such financial 
instruments, by reference to observable market information where such instruments are held as assets. Where this 
information is not available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective 
note to the financial statements. 

19.5.2 Fair value hierarchy 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, 
which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that 
is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  

 Measurements based on quoted prices 

(unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement 

date. 

Measurements based on inputs other 

than quoted prices included in Level 1 

that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Measurements based on unobservable 

inputs for the asset or liability. 
 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. If all 
significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more 
significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

The Group would change the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy only in the following circumstances:  

 if a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) became inactive (Level 2 or Level 3) or vice versa; or 

 if significant inputs that were previously unobservable (Level 3) became observable (Level 2) or vice versa. 

When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 
(i.e. transfers into and out of each level of the fair value hierarchy) on the date the event or change in circumstances 
occurred. 
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19.5.3 Valuation techniques 

The Group selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available 
to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the specific characteristics of 
the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the Group are consistent with one or more of 
the following valuation approaches: 

 Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions 
for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single 
discounted present value. 

 Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service capacity. 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, the Group gives priority to 
those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that 
are developed using market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, 
whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best information available 
about such assumptions are considered unobservable. 

19.6 New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group 

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for the current year. New and revised 
Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the current year that are relevant to the Group are: 

 AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business 

 AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material 

 AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework 

 AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

 AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the Effect of New IFRS Standards Not 
Yet Issued in Australia  
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The directors of the Company declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 14 to 53, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and: 

 (a) comply with Accounting Standards;  

 (b) are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, as stated in notes to the financial statements; and 

 (c) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of the performance for the year ended on that 
date of the Company and the Group. 

 (d) the Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth); 

2. in the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the directors 
by: 

 

 

 

 

DAVID PORTER 

Chairman 

Dated this Wednesday, 22 December 2021 

 

 

 

  

Directors’ Declaration  



 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF SUNDANCE RESOURCES LIMITED 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Sundance Resources Limited (“the Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (“the Consolidated Entity”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion: 

a. the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 

2021 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 

in Note 19. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Those standards require 

that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material 

misstatement. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  We are independent of the 

Consolidated Entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 

Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

  



 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 19.1.3 in the financial report which indicates that the Consolidated Entity 

incurred a net loss of $1,607,868 during the year ended 30 June 2021. As stated in Note 19.1.3, these 

events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 19.1.3, indicate that a material 

uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. Our opinion is not modified in this respect of this matter.  

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Consolidated Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include 

the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 

report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. In Note 19, the directors also state in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial 

Reporting Standards.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Consolidated Entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 

Consolidated Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  



 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. Our objectives are 

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Consolidated Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Consolidated Entity to express an opinion on the financial report. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Consolidated Entity 

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  



 

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 

not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

 

 

HALL CHADWICK WA AUDIT PTY LTD MARK DELAURENTIS CA 
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Dated 22nd of December 2021 

 

 


